THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**

AUG 22 2016

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM Horry COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge 15<sup>th</sup> Judicial Circuit

Civil Action No. 2014-CP-26-08367

2014-CP-26-03362 (formerly 2013-CP-02816)

Appellate Case No. 2016-001328

Gabriel Barnhill & GSB Enterprises LLC Respondents,

v.

J Floyd Swilley, J Floyd Swilley Investment  
Advisors, Laurel K Swilley, SMG Partners  
LLC, SMS Services LP, William C Piner,  
WCP Limited LLC, 809 Holdings LP, QC  
Financing LLC, Heath Causey, and Sage  
Financial Group LLC, J Floyd Swilley, SMG  
Partners LLC, Alicia Piner, Heath Causey,

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court commit reversible error by failing to abide by its own order staying the proceedings for 30 days?
  
- II. Did the trial court commit reversible error by ruling on the matter despite the clerk's defective service of notice?
  
- III. Did the trial court commit reversible error by striking pleadings and granting final judgment as a sanction?
  
- IV. Did the trial court commit reversible error by granting summary judgment when there remained genuine issues of material fact in dispute?
  
- V. Did the trial court commit reversible error by relying on false statements and misrepresentations by counsel?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In April 2013, the Appellees Gabriel Barnhill and GSB Enterprises, Inc. (collectively, "Barnhill") commenced the instant litigation against, inter alia, the Appellant J. Floyd Swilley, the Appellant Laurel K. Swilley (collectively, the "Swilleys") and Heath Causey. In short, Barnhill alleged that the Swilleys engaged in a Ponzi scheme which caused Barnhill to lose a substantial amount of money. In June 2013, the defendants denied the substantive claims against them and, further, all defendants asserted various counterclaims against Barnhill.

Subsequently, Barnhill served various discovery requests upon the Swilleys and Causey. Not satisfied with the Swilleys', Causeys, or other defendants responses, Barnhill filed several motions to compel discovery on July 3, 2013, January 8, 2014, January 10, 2014, September 5, 2014, and October 5, 2014. Still not satisfied, Barnhill ultimately filed motions for sanctions on November 4, 2013, May 4, 2015, and June 12, 2015.

On October 27, 2015, John M. Leiter, Esquire ("Attorney Leiter") filed a motion to be relieved as counsel for the Swilleys, Causey (and others). See Motion to be Relieved As Counsel, filed Oct. 27, 2015. That Motion was not heard until January 4, 2016, and on January 14, 2016, the trial court signed an order releasing Attorney Leiter as counsel

for the Swilleys, Causey (and others), although the order was not entered until January 25, 2016. See Order, entered Jan. 25, 2016 ("January Order"). In relevant part, the January Order stated as follows: "The proceedings in this case will be held in abeyance for thirty (30) days from the date of this Order" so as to allow Attorney Leiter's former clients (including the Swilleys and Causey) an opportunity to obtain new legal counsel to represent them in this matter. *Id.*

Meanwhile, back on December 16, 2015, Barnhill had filed a Notice of Motion and Motion for Summary Judgment and for Judgment on the Pleadings. See Plaintiffs' Notice of Motion & Motion for Summary Judgment and for Judgment on the Pleadings, filed Dec. 15, 2016 ("Dec. Motion"). Still without legal counsel, and prior to the trial court hearing Attorney Leiter's motion to withdraw, I never received notice from the clerk regarding Barnhill's December Motion. See Causeys motion to Set Aside. In fact, I (Causey) did receive a copy of a notice of court from the Plaintiffs Council however it did not arrive until February 17 at 6pm after the motion had been heard in court. Significantly, both the notice and the hearing fell within the 30-day abeyance period set forth in the January Order. See "January Order".

The only persons in attendance at the February 16, 2016 hearing were Barnhill's attorney, Nate Fata, Esquire ("Attorney Fata") and Stephan B. Fiedler, Esquire ("Attorney Feidler"). See Transcripts of Hearing 2/16/16 ("Feb. Transcripts."). Attorney Fata is

Barnhill's counsel and Attorney Fiedler solely appeared on behalf of the Defendant 809 Holdings LP. See "Feb. Transcripts" 3:8-9 & 4:5-12. Furthermore, Attorney Fiedler was new to the case (and fairly new to the practice of law) and was stepping in for senior partner Mark D. Neill, Esquire ("Attorney Neill"). See Feb. Transcripts 14:4-10 & 30:22-24.

For some reason, Attorney Fiedler made numerous misleading statements to the trial court as to the Swilleys and Causey, and thereby falsely suggesting that the Swilleys, Causey and other defendants purposefully avoided complying with discovery requests. See Feb. Transcripts 14:19-22 & 15:8-17; Letter from Attorney Neill to Judge McIntosh, dated May 19, 2016 ("Neill Letter"). And when presented with such evidence, the trial court verbally granted Barnhill's Motion to Strike the Swilleys' & Causeys pleadings and Motion for Attorney's Fees. See Feb. Transcripts. 11:25B12:2, 31:11-14.

Later, in March 2016, based on the February 16 hearing, as well as the Plaintiffs' Memorandum in Support of their Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings and/or Summary Judgment ("Barnhill Memo"), initially submitted in December 2015 and prior to the February 2016 hearing, the trial court granted Barnhill summary judgment on its claims against the Swilleys & Causey as well as the defendants counterclaims against Barnhill. See Order, entered Mar. 21, 2016 ("March Order"). Notably, however, the

March Order did not follow the verbal ruling of the trial court on February 16, 2016 but, rather, reflected the contents of the Barnhill Memo. *See id.*

I filed a Motion to Set Aside the March Order pursuant to Rule 59(e), Rule 55(c) and Rule 60(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure ("SCRPC"), *see Causey Mot. to Set Aside*, but those motions were denied, *see Form 4*. On June 24, 2016, I timely submitted a notice of appeal in this matter. *See Notice of Appeal*.

This Appellant references the entire Brief of the Swilleys' and asserts the same arguments and assertions as his own unless specifically identified within this brief.

## ARGUMENT

### I. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY FAILING TO ABIDE BY ITS OWN ORDER STAYING THE PROCEEDINGS FOR 30 DAYS

In its January Order, the trial court clearly and expressly stated that "[t]he proceedings in this case will be held in abeyance for thirty (30) days from the date of this Order." See January Order at 2.

"To stay an order is to hold it in abeyance or refrain from enforcing it; a stay is a stopping." *Santee Cooper Resort, Inc. v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 298 S.C. 179, 184, 379 S.E.2d 119, 122 (1989) (internal quotations omitted). The purpose of a stay is to preserve the status quo pending some later determination. See *Graham v. Graham*, 301 S.C. 128, 130, 390 S.E.2d 469, 470 (Ct. App. 1990).

In effect, then, holding the case in abeyance renders the status quo the law of the case. See *Flexon v. PHC-Jasper, Inc.*, 413 S.C. 561, 571-72, 776 S.E.2d 397, 403-04 (Ct. App. 2015) ("[T]he doctrine of the law of the case prohibits issues [that] have been decided in a prior appeal from being relitigated in the trial court in the same case." (quoting *Ross v. Med. Univ. of S.C.*, 328 S.C. 51, 62, 492 S.E.2d 62, 68 (1997))); *Shirley's Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union*, 403 S.C. 560, 573, 743 S.E.2d 778, 785 (2013) ("The

doctrine of the law of the case applies to an order or ruling which finally determines a substantial right." (internal quotations marks omitted)).

Although the January Order was signed on January 14, 2016, it was not entered until January 25, 2016. *See* Jan. Order. An order is effective from the date of entry, not signature. *See* Rule 58(a), SCRPC ("A judgment is effective only when so set forth *and entered* in the record" (emphasis added)); *Bowman v. Richland Mem'l Hosp.*, 335 S.C. 88, 92, 515 S.E.2d 259, 261 (Ct. App. 1999) (holding the effective date of a trial court order is the date the order is entered by the clerk of court, not the date the order is signed). Accordingly, the January Order effectively froze the proceedings through February 24, 2016 (30 days after January 25, 2016).

Nevertheless, the trial court held a hearing on February 16, 2016, at which only Attorney Fata (Respondents' counsel) and Attorney Fiedler (809 Holdings' counsel) were present. See Feb. Tr. 3:8-14, 4:5-12. Moreover, at that hearing, the trial court ruled that it would strike the Swilleys' & Causey's pleadings and enter summary judgment in favor of Barnhill on the Swilleys' & Causey's counterclaims. See *id.* 11:25B12:2, 30:15B31:14.

Therefore, it is beyond dispute that the trial court violated its own order of abeyance by conducting the February 16 hearing and making substantive determinations therein. As such, the trial court's order is unlawful. See *Dukes & Dukes, Inc. v. Hygrade Food Prods. Corp.*, 236 S.C. 69, 113 S.E.2d 254 (1960) (unappealed order becomes law of case and, thus, is binding on the litigants and the court alike); *Stevens v. United States*, No. 98-554C, 2012 WL 2021740, at \*4 (Fed. Cl. filed June 4, 2012) ("Law of the case . . . provides that a trial court should abide by its own legal rulings during the pendency of the same proceeding." (citing *Arizona v. California*, 460 U.S. 605, 618 (1983)); 60 C.J.S. *Motions and Orders* § 75 (Westlaw database updated Aug. 2016) ("[A]n order of court . . . is binding on the parties and their privies, *as well as on the court*" (emphasis added))).

On that basis, the trial court's decision below must be reversed and the matter remanded for further proceedings.

II. **THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR  
BY RULING ON THE MATTER DESPITE THE DEFECTIVE  
SERVICE OF NOTICE TO HEATH CAUSEY**

"The requirements of due process include notice [and] an opportunity to be heard in a meaningful way." *Ogburn-Matthews v. Loblolly Partners*, 332 S.C. 551, 562, 505 S.E.2d 598, 603 (Ct. App. 1998); *see also Mullane v. Cent. Hanover Bank & Trust Co.*, 339 U.S. 306, 314 (1950) (stating that the Due Process Clause demands "notice reasonably calculated under all the circumstances, to apprise interested parties of the pendency of the action and afford them an opportunity to present their objections").

It is a fundamental doctrine of the law that a party whose personal rights are to be affected by a personal judgment must have a day in court, or opportunity to be heard, and that without due notice and opportunity to be heard a court has no jurisdiction to adjudicate such personal rights. A judgment by a court without jurisdiction of both the parties and the subject matter is a nullity and must be so treated by the courts whenever and for whatever purpose it is presented and relied on.

*Webster v. Clanton*, 259 S.C. 387, 391, 192 S.E.2d 214, 216 (1972); *accord Tryron Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. Phelps*, 307 S.C. 361, 362, 415 S.E.2d 397, 398 (1992).

In the instant case, although the Swilleys and Causey were clearly parties to the litigation, the Clerk of the Court never gave Causey notice of Barnhill's December Motion and/or the February Hearing thereon. *See* Motions to Set Aside ¶ 4.

Although Barnhill did himself provide notice to the Swilleys & Causey, *see* Feb. Transcripts 9:6-8, such notice was a day after the February Hearing and did not include the subject documentation, i.e., Barnhill's motion or memorandum in support thereof. Thus, the notice actually given was not reasonably calculated to provide the Causey (me) with an honest opportunity to respond thereto. *See Ogburn-Matthews*, 332 S.C. at 562, 505 S.E.2d at 603; *Mullane*, 339 U.S. at 314.

And procedurally, the Swilleys & Causey sought to have the trial court correct itself by way of a motion to set aside pursuant to Rule 59, SCRCP, *see* Motion to Set Aside, but to no avail, *see* Form 4. *Cf. Universal Benefits, Inc. v. McKinney*, 349 S.C. 179, 183-84, 561 S.E.2d 659, 661-62 (Ct. App. 2002) (holding that party was not denied an opportunity to be heard because the party failed to pursue a motion to set aside the order pursuant to Rule 59, SCRCP).

Also See "Fata Letter attachment", affidavit of Sally Huffman, item #3 only references the Swilleys' and does not make reference to sending Heath Causey a copy of the notice or Defendants QC Financing LLC, Digits LLC or Chris Pitcock Pro se clearly showing a pattern for failure to copy the other parties on service timely as the copy of the affidavit was over 30 days old before servicing it to other parties.

Therefore, the trial court's order in this case violated the Swilleys' and Causeys due process rights and thus is void. On that basis, the trial court's decision below must be reversed and the matter remanded for further proceedings.

III.

**THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR  
BY GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS A SANCTION  
AGAINST THE SWILLEYS AND CAUSEY**

As summarized by the courts:

"The imposition of sanctions is generally entrusted to the sound discretion of the Circuit Court." *Downey v. Dixon*, 294 S.C. 42, 45, 362 S.E.2d 317, 318 (Ct. App. 1987). Therefore, an appellate court will not interfere with "a trial court's exercise of its discretionary powers with respect to sanctions imposed in discovery matters" unless the court abuses its discretion. *Karppi v. Greenville Terrazzo Co., Inc.*, 327 S.C. 538, 542, 489 S.E.2d 679, 681 (Ct. App. 1997) (citation omitted). "An 'abuse of discretion' may be found by this Court where the appellant shows that the conclusion reached by the lower court was without reasonable factual support, resulted in prejudice to the right of appellant, and, therefore, amounted to an error of law." *Dunn v. Dunn*, 298 S.C. 499, 502, 381 S.E.2d 734, 735 (1989) (citation omitted). The appealing party bears the burden of demonstrating that the lower court abused its discretion. *Id.* (citation omitted).

....

However, "when the court orders default or dismissal, or the sanction itself results in default or dismissal, the end result is harsh medicine that should not be administered lightly." *Griffin Grading & Clearing, Inc. v. Tire Serv. Equip. Mfg. Co.*, 334 S.C. 193, 198, 511 S.E.2d 716, 718 (Ct. App. 1999) (citing *Orlando v. Boyd*, 320 S.C. 509, 466 S.E.2d 353 (1996)). Thus, "[w]here the sanction would be tantamount to granting a judgment by default, the moving party must show bad faith, willful disobedience or gross indifference to its rights to justify the sanction." *Id.*

at 198-199, 511 S.E.2d at 718-19 (citing *Baughman v. AT&T Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 410 S.E.2d 537 (1991)).]

*Davis v. Parkview Apts.*, 409 S.C. 266, 281-83, 762 S.E.2d 535, 543-44 (2014).

In the instant case, there was no factual basis to support the decision to impose the ultimate sanction penalty of striking the Swilleys' or Causeys pleadings and then granting final judgment in favor of Barnhill.

Although Barnhill asserted that the Defendants had been evading several attempts at discovery, that is simply untrue. To the contrary, the Swilleys along with Causey had already produced hundreds of pages of documents in response to requests to produce and also answered numerous requests for admissions and interrogatories. See Neill Letter. Moreover, there was only one scheduled deposition of the Swilleys, but the parties had verbally agreed to reschedule same, and no other date had yet been established. See *id.*; Feb. Tr. 15:18-21; Letter from F. Miles Adler to Judge McIntosh, dated May 3, 2016 ("Adler Letter").

Undisputedly, striking the Swilleys' and Causeys pleadings and granting final judgment against Causey severely prejudiced Causey in this action. See *Parker v. Spartanburg Sanitary Sewer Dist.*, 362 S.C. 276, 286, 607 S.E.2d 711, 716 (Ct. App. 2005) ("The prejudice Rule 15 envisions [allowing leave to be granted to amend pleadings when leave does not prejudice any other party] is a lack of notice that the new issue is

going to be tried, and a lack of opportunity to refute it." (citing, inter alia, *Tanner v. Florence County Treasurer*, 336 S.C. 552, 521 S.E.2d 153 (1999)).

Therefore, the trial court's order was an abuse of discretion, and on that basis, the trial court's decision below must be reversed and the matter remanded for further proceedings.

**IV. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR  
BY GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHEN THERE  
REMAINED GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT IN DISPUTE**

As recently summarized:

"An appellate court reviews the granting of summary judgment under the same standard applied by the trial court. . . ." *Quail Hill, L.L.C. v. Cnty. of Richland*, 387 S.C. 223, 235, 692 S.E.2d 499, 505 (2010) (citing *Brockbank v. Best Capital Corp.*, 341 S.C. 372, 379, 534 S.E.2d 688, 692 (2000)). "[A] trial court may grant a motion for summary judgment 'if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.'" *Id.* at 234, 692 S.E.2d at 505 (quoting Rule 56(c), SCRPC).

*Traynum v. Scavens*, 416 S.C. 197, 201, 786 S.E.2d 115, 117 (2016).

"In determining whether [the "drastic remedy" of] summary judgment is appropriate, the evidence and its reasonable inferences must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." *Dawkins v. Fields*, 354 S.C. 58, 69, 580 S.E.2d 433, 439 (2003).

Furthermore:

Those facts which are "material" for purposes of summary judgement are identified by the substantive law of the claim asserted. In other words, only disputes over facts that might affect the outcome of the suit under the governing law will properly preclude the entry of summary judgement.

*Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.*, 477 U.S. 242 [] (1986). An issue is "genuine" if the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could return a verdict for the non-moving party. *Id.* Conversely, an issue is not "genuine" and summary judgement warranted if there is insufficient evidence favoring the non-moving party for a jury to return a verdict for that party. *Id.*

*Hampton v. Conso Prods., Inc.*, 808 F. Supp. 1227, 1232 (D.S.C. 1992).<sup>1</sup>

In the instant case, the Swilleys and Causey vehemently deny the substantive allegations of Barnhill's complaint. *See generally* Answer. Moreover, J. Floyd Swilley asserted a counterclaim against Barnhill for breach of contract, *see* Counterclaims,<sup>2</sup> which Barnhill denied, *see* Answer to Counterclaims. Clearly, then, there are "genuine" disputes of "material" fact that preclude judgment as a matter of law for either party on Barnhill's claims against the Swilleys and Causey and the Swilleys' and Causeys counterclaim against Barnhill. *See Hampton*, 808 F. Supp. at 1232.

---

<sup>1</sup>Rule 56 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure is identical to its federal counterpart. In the absence of state law on the issue in question, federal cases interpreting the rule are persuasive." *Dawkins v. Fields*, 345 S.C. 23, 28, 545 S.E.2d 515, 518 (Ct. App. 2001), *rev'd on other grounds*, 354 S.C. 58, 67, 580 S.E.2d 433, 438 (2003).

<sup>2</sup>Although the Swilleys also asserted a counterclaim pursuant to the South Carolina Frivolous Civil Proceedings Sanctions Act, the Swilleys & Causey acknowledges that such claim is unripe until the Swilleys & Causey prevail on Barnhill's claims against them. *See* S.C. Code § 15-36-10(C)(1); Feb. Tr. 20:9-14.

Moreover, "[s]ummary judgment . . . must not be granted until the opposing party has had a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery." *Dawkins*, 354 S.C. at 69, 580 S.E.2d at 439. As repeatedly brought up in this case, there has been virtually no discovery to date in this matter. See Mar. Order 2-4; Feb. Tr. 5:14-15, 8:19B9:2. Also most if all of the responses from Barnhill were incomplete, Barnhill has provided very little if any discovery to support his claims, The documents that have been provided do not support his claims but do support the answers and counterclaims of the defendants.

Therefore, the drastic remedy of summary judgment was not warranted based on the existing record and, thus, the trial court's decision below must be reversed and the matter remanded for further proceedings.

V.

**THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR  
BY RELYING ON FALSE STATEMENTS AND  
MISREPRESENTATIONS BY LEGAL COUNSEL**

"A court of equity has the inherent power to set aside a judgment on the ground of fraud." *Bankers Trust of S.C. v. Bruce*, 283 S.C. 408, 415, 323 S.E.2d 523, 528 (Ct. App. 1984) (citing, inter alia, *Rycroft v. Tanguay*, 279 S.C. 76, 302 S.E.2d 327 (1983)).

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