THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

RECEIVED

R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

NOV 13 2017

Trial Court Case No. 2014-CP-26-8367  
(Formerly 2013-CP-26-2816)

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2016-001328

Gabriel Barnhill & GSB Enterprises LLC..... Respondents

v.

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. Causey Did Not Preserve For Appeal The Court's Determination That His Pleadings Be Stricken For Failure To Cooperate In Discovery.**

The lower court's March 21, 2016 Order addressed two Barnhill motions: Barnhill's Motion to Compel and Barnhill's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings and Summary Judgment on Causey's Counterclaim under the Frivolous Proceedings Act.

March 2016 Order (R. pp. 32-38). In his Rule 59 and 60 Motion, Causey appealed only the ruling on the Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment and Judgment on the Pleadings as to Causey's Counterclaim. April 6, 2016 Causey Motion To Set Aside (R. p. 394). Causey did not preserve for appeal the lower court ruling against him based on Barnhill's Motion to Compel. Causey's failure to cooperate in discovery was the basis for the court's striking Causey's pleadings. March 2016 Order, p. 3-4 (R. pp. 34-35).

In the Order denying Causey's motion for reconsideration, the lower court noted that Causey failed to address the Court's rulings on the Barnhill December 2015 Motion to Compel. May 2016 Order, p. 4 (R. p. 44). Thus, Causey has not preserved for appeal the lower court's rulings on the Motion to Compel, which were the basis for striking Causey's pleadings.

Issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide the Court with a platform for meaningful appellate review. *Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2012). "It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review." *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998).

"It is well settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved." *Pye v. Estate of Fox*, 369 S.C. 555, 564, 633 S.E.2d 505, 510 (2006). While "a party is not required to use the exact name of a legal doctrine in order to preserve the issue," *Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 466, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2012), the party nonetheless must be sufficiently clear in framing his objection so as to draw the court's attention to the precise

nature of the alleged error. *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). If the party is not reasonably clear in his objection to the perceived error, he waives his right to challenge the erroneous ruling on appeal. *S.C. Dep't of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C.*, 372 S.C. 295, 301, 641 S.E.2d 903, 907 (2007). Furthermore, a party cannot use a Rule 59(e) motion to advance an issue the party could have raised to the circuit court prior to judgment, but did not. *Hickman v. Hickman*, 301 S.C. 455, 456, 392 S.E.2d 481, 482 (Ct. App. 1990).

Causey did not raise any argument at the February 16, 2016 hearing or in his Motion To Set Aside Summary Judgment on the Court's ruling that his pleadings be stricken for his failure to cooperate in discovery pursuant to Barnhill's December 2015 Motion to Compel. Furthermore, in his Brief to this Court, Causey only refers to Barnhill's December 2015 Motion for Summary Judgment and does not mention Barnhill's December 2015 Motion to Compel. Causey has failed to preserve for appeal the court's ruling to strike his pleading for repeated discovery abuse pursuant to Barnhill's Motion to Compel. The Court's May 2016 Reconsideration Order addressed the failure by Causey to address or raise any issue with the Court striking his pleadings pursuant to Barnhill's Motion to Compel. May 2016 Order (R. p. 44). That decision of the lower court is the law of the case. *Anderson v. Short*, 323 S.C. 522, 476 S.E.2d 475 (1996) (where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the Appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become law of the case).

Similarly, Causey never set forth any grounds in his motion that the court should have stayed the hearing. In fact, Causey's only argument in his Motion to Set Aside was

a notice argument on Barnhill's December 2015 Motion for Summary Judgment: that he received the Notice of Hearing the day of the hearing in connection with Barnhill's Motion for Summary Judgment (R. p. 394). Thus, Causey failed to preserve for appeal any argument involving any stay of the action and the hearing date.

## **II. The Court Exercised Sound Discretion In Striking Causey's Pleadings Pursuant To Barnhill's Motion To Compel.**

Absent an abuse of discretion, discovery sanctions will not be reversed on appeal, and the party appealing from the order of sanctions carries the burden of proving an abuse of discretion occurred. *Barnette v. Adams Brothers Logging*, 355 S.C. 588, 586 S.E.2d 572 (S.C. 2003). Similarly, motions for relief under Rule 60(b) SCRPC are within the trial court's discretion, and the appellate court will not reverse the trial court absent an abuse of discretion. *Coleman v. Dunlap*, 306 S.C. 491, 413 S.E.2d 15 (S.C. 1992).

The court did not abuse its discretion by granting the relief requested when there is a well-documented pattern of discovery abuse. The court previously found defendants were "sandbagging" in discovery and no depositions had been taken despite multiple deposition notices and motions to compel. Causey's own admission in his Brief to this Court that very little discovery had been done- after nearly three years and 11 motions on discovery issues-confirms his delay tactics.

In his brief, Causey admits the essence of the case which gave rise to the court striking Causey's pleadings under the Plaintiffs' discovery motion. "As repeatedly brought up in this case, there has been virtually no discovery to date in this matter." Causey Brief, p. 17. The record reflects seven (7) motions to compel filed against defendants including Causey, four (4) motions for sanctions filed and four Orders granting sanctions/fees. The court did not abuse its discretion in striking Causey's

pleadings for failure to cooperate in discovery. Four notices of deposition were served on Causey. Barnhill October 20, 2014 Motion to Compel with Causey Deposition Notices; Barnhill December 2015 Motion to Compel (R. pp. 269-291; R. pp. 410-414). Causey never appeared for deposition or offered to appear for a deposition. March 2016 Order, p. 3-4 (R. pp. 34-35). Causey cites no evidence in his Brief to support his conclusory argument. An issue is deemed abandoned on appeal if it is argued in a short conclusory statement without supporting authority. *Fields v. Melrose Ltd. Partnership*, 312 S.C. 102, 439 S.E.2d 283 (Ct. App. 1993).

**III. The Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion In Denying Causey's Motion To Set Aside, Because Causey Was Served With The Notice Of Hearing And Barnhill's December 2015 Pleadings Were Served On Causey's Counsel.**

Causey moved to set aside summary judgment that was entered against him pursuant to Rule 55(c) and 60(b). In support of his Motion, Causey asserts he was never notified of the hearing but then avers he was notified. Causey Motion to Set Aside, p. 2 (R. p. 394). The lower court, with Causey's conflicting assertions, and with thirteen days between Barnhill's mailing of the Notice of Hearing to Causey and the hearing date, concluded Causey was duly notified. March 2016 Order (R. p. 44). Causey did not set forth any other grounds for relief in his motion to set aside. Causey did not assert the thirty day period stayed the action beyond the February 16, 2016 hearing date. Causey has waived that argument.

Causey was properly served with Barnhill's December 2015 Motion to Compel and Motion for Summary Judgment and Judgment on the Pleadings. Plaintiffs' served Causey's counsel, Leiter, in December 2015 with those two Motions. Barnhill December 2015 Motion to Compel and Motion for Summary Judgment including Certificates of

Service (R. pp. 410-414; R. pp. 355-356; S.S.R. 3-7). Plaintiffs served Causey with notice of the February 16, 2016 hearing on February 3, 2016. Notice of Hearing (R. pp. 367-371). Furthermore, at the time any hearing was set by the Clerk of Court, Causey's counsel, Leiter, would be responsible for providing notice to Causey. Plaintiffs' counsel provided additional notice of the February 16, 2016 hearing.

Contrary to Causey's arguments on page 9 of his brief, Plaintiffs' were under no obligation to serve again a previously filed and served motion with the Notice of Hearing upon Causey. Causey cites no procedural rule requiring redundant service of a written motion on a party. No court order required such redundant service. Causey's conclusory arguments are without support in fact and in law. An issue is deemed abandoned on appeal if it is argued in a short conclusory statement without supporting authority. *Fields v. Melrose Ltd. Partnership*, 312 S.C. 102, 439 S.E.2d 283 (Ct. App. 1993).

When Adler withdrew as counsel from Causey under Order filed on December 11, 2013, Causey was ordered by the court to advise the Clerk of his address. December 11, 2013 Order (R. pp. 2-4). Nowhere in the record did Causey ever notify the Court of his address when he was not represented by counsel. Any lack of hearing notice from the clerk argument by Causey is without basis and would be due to Causey's failure to comply with the court's prior order. Interestingly, Causey asserts in his Motion to Set Aside that Adler was notified of the hearing. Causey Motion to Set Aside, Par. 1 (R. p. 394).

Causey does not cite any matter in the record which indicates his counsel up to January 25, 2016 was not notified of the hearing or that Leiter was unaware of the hearing. No affidavit of Leiter was filed attesting that he was not aware of or not

informed of the February 16, 2016 hearing before January 25, 2016. Thus, the record does not support Causey's contention that he was unaware of the hearing until after it occurred. And the court was within its sound discretion to reject Causey's bare assertions that he received the Notice of Hearing a few hours late. Everyone else, Swilley included, knew of the hearing. February 16, 2016 Hearing Transcript p. 15, lines 9-17 (R. p. 450, lines 9-17). 809's counsel was present at the hearing, and Causey worked with Swilley in 809. In its March 22, 2016 Order, the court noted Neill, whose firm represented 809 at the hearing, was representing Causey and others in the Twigg case. March 22, 2016 Order, p. 3, ftnt. 2 (R. p. 34, ftnt. 2).

Service is effective upon mailing pursuant to Rule 5, SCRCPP. Personal service or actual service of a hearing notice is not required. ("Service by mail is complete upon mailing all pleadings and papers subsequent to service of the original summons and complaint.) Rule 5(b), SCRCPP. Rule 5(a), SCRCPP addresses, in part, the service of notices.

If notice of a motion hearing required actual knowledge by the non-moving party, as confirmed by the non-moving party, SCRCPP Rule 5 would be useless. Any litigant could wait to open mail until after a hearing time and dodge judgments and court orders. The lower court is not obligated to accept Causey's bare, contradictory statements as true or as a valid reason to set aside its Order when:

1. Service of the Notice of Hearing was effective on February 3, 2016 pursuant to SCRCPP, Rule 5;

2. Causey filed no affidavits attesting that neither he nor his counsel had notice of the hearing;

3. Causey was previously ordered to notify the court of his address but he did not;
4. Causey's prior counsel, Leiter, was not relieved until January 25, 2016;
5. Causey did not attend the February 16, 2016 hearing or file any papers objecting to the hearing before April, 2016;
6. Causey never obtained new counsel, so he suffered no prejudice;
7. The record reflects Causey has not complied with and has ignored multiple court orders; and
8. Neill, Causey's counsel in a related case, *Twigg vs. 809 et al*, received notice of the hearing and his firm attended the hearing.

Furthermore, Causey's assertions in his Initial Brief conflict with assertions made to the trial court. In his Motion to Set Aside the Summary Judgment, Causey asserts he "received said notice the day of the hearing, [February 16, 2016] after the hearing had been heard." Causey's Notice of Motion To Set Aside Summary Judgment, Par. 3 (R. p. 394). In his Initial Brief, p. 3, Causey now argues that he received the notice on February 17, 2016, the day after the hearing. The trial court was well within its discretion to reject Causey's bare, contradicting notice arguments. Causey has not met his burden in proving the lower court abused its discretion.

#### **IV. The Trial Court Properly Calculated Thirty Days Under The Plain Language Of The Order.**

Under the plain language of the January 14, 2016 Order, the 30 day stay began on January 14, 2016 and ended on February 13, 2016. Contrary to Causey's arguments, the date an Order is filed does not automatically begin the timing or parameters within the

Order. Rather, the language used by Judge Seals in his Order determines the date a time period, such as a thirty day stay, is to commence. Once the order is filed, it is effective. But nothing requires time parameters within the order to start on the date the order is entered.

Judgments are to be construed like other written instruments. The determinative factor is the intention of the court gathered from all parts of the order. Such construction should be given to a judgment as will give force and effect to every word of it, if possible and make it as a whole construed and reasonable. *Eddins v. Eddins*, 304, S.C. 133, 403 S.E.2d 164 (S.C. Ct. App. 1991).

The order relieving Leiter as counsel was prepared by Causey's counsel, Leiter, within a day of the January 4, 2016 hearing. In the January 2016 Order, the court used two distinct phrases "within thirty (30) days from the date of this Order" and "as of the date of the entry of this Order". The lower court distinguished the "as of the date of entry of this order" from the "date of this order." January 2016 Order (R. pp. 29-31). If the court intended the thirty day period to begin upon the filing of the Order, the court would have used the language "as of the date of the entry of this Order." The language used by the court refutes Causey's argument. There is no dispute that the date of the Order is January 14, 2016. The court rendered its written decision and ruling on that date as evidenced by the language, "IT IS SO ORDERED". January 14, 2016 Order, p. 3 (R. p. 31).

The lower court gave an extra ten days from the court's ruling from bench on January 4, 2016 for Causey to obtain counsel and stay the action. The court was aware of the scheduling issues and pushed the trial date to not before May 1, 2016. January 2016

Order (R. p. 31). Under Causey's flawed logic, there would be no reason for a judge to ever date an order if time parameters within the order are to run only upon entry of the order.

While the Order was required to be filed with the court to become effective, the time frames set forth in the Order are not superseded by the date the Order is filed. Rather, the time frame is triggered by the language of the Order. In this instance, the Judge Seals chose to give Causey 30 days from the date of his Order. After he signed the Order, he mailed it back to Leiter and obviously understood Leiter would receive it and file it with the clerk. Judge Seals did not know the date the Order would be entered because Leiter was responsible for filing it. He did know, however, that he gave 30 days at the hearing for Causey to obtain new counsel. January 4, 2016 Hearing Transcript, p. 4-5 (R. pp. 429-433). And Judge Seals knew the date he signed and dated the Order. Thus, the date placed on the Order by Judge Seals is the date the clock begins to run on Causey. To hold otherwise would be to disregard the intent of the court.

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